#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

#### VIVIA HARRISON, an individual,

Appellant,

vs.

RAMPARTS INC. dba LUXOR HOTEL & CASINO, a Nevada Domestic Corporation,

Respondent.

Case No. 80167

Electronically Filed Sep 01 2020 03:15 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, the Honorable David M. Jones Presiding

#### **APPELLANT'S AMENDED OPENING BRIEF**

Micah S. Echols, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 8437 **Claggett & Sykes Law Firm** 4101 Meadows Lane, Suite 100 Las Vegas, Nevada 89107 Telephone: (702) 655-2346 Facsimile: (702) 655-3763 <u>micah@claggettlaw.com</u>

#### I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

On December 3, 2019, Plaintiff/Appellant, Vivia Harrison ("Harrison"), timely appealed from the stipulation and order to dismiss Defendant Desert Medical Equipment ("Desert Medical"), only, which was noticed on December 5, 2019. 5 Appellant's Appendix ("AA") 750-772. This stipulated dismissal is the final, appealable order for which an appeal is authorized by NRAP 3A(b)(1). See Lee v. GNLV Corp., 116 Nev. 424, 426, 996 P.2d 416, 417 (2000). As this Court previously determined, Harrison's appeal from the final order allows this Court to review any interlocutory orders. See Consolidated Generator-Nevada, Inc. v. Cummins Engine *Co., Inc.*, 114 Nev. 1304, 1312, 971 P.2d 1251, 1256 (1998). The two interlocutory orders that Harrison identified in her notice of appeal are (1) the order granting Luxor's motion for attorney's fees and costs, as well as (2) the order denying Harrison's motion to reconsider the District Court's order granting an offset to Luxor. 5 AA 753-764. Therefore, this Court has appellate jurisdiction over all the issues presented in this appeal.

#### II. <u>ROUTING STATEMENT</u>

This case is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals based upon NRAP 17(b)(5), which presumes such assignments for an "[a]ppeal from a judgment, exclusive of interest, attorney fees, and costs, of \$250,000 or less in a tort case . . . ." Similarly, NRAP 17(b)(7) presumptively assigns to the Court of Appeals

-1-

cases involving an appeal from post-judgment orders in civil cases. However, NRAP 17(a)(11) and (12), allow the Supreme Court to retain a case that involves issues of first impression or issues of statewide public importance. The main issue in this case deals with whether Luxor's subsequent award of attorney's fees and costs, which the District Court improperly treated as an "offset" against a prior settlement between Harrison and Defendant Desert Medical Equipment ("Desert Medical"). 4 AA 585–593; 5 AA 727–731.

In essence, the District Court relied upon John W. Muije, Ltd. v. North Las Vegas Cab Company, Inc., 106 Nev. 664, 798 P.2d 559 (1990) to apply Luxor's post-trial award of attorney's fees and costs, as an "offset," to Harrison's prior settlement with Desert Medical. 4 AA 585–593; 5 AA 727–731. Yet, the definition of "offset" does not contemplate Luxor's ability to attach the funds from Harrison's prior settlement with Desert Medical, BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY, 1310 (11th ed. 2019), particularly because Harrison's attorneys had already asserted an attorney's lien on the separate settlement funds. 4 AA 675–682; Golightly & Vannah, PLLC v. TJ Allen, LLC, 132 Nev. 416, 420, 373 P.3d 103, 105 (2016). Since the Desert Medical settlement funds were attached prior to Luxor's award of attorney's fees and costs, the policies outlined in *Muije* do not apply to this case. Instead, this case presents issues that fit within the exceptions to *Muije*. In particular, if the District Court's orders are affirmed, they will discourage plaintiffs from settling with fewer

than all defendants in multi-defendant litigation because any settlement amounts recovered prior to trial will become vulnerable to an "offset" by any remaining defendant that later prevails and recovers an award of attorney's fees or costs. Due to the issues of first impression and statewide public importance, Harrison urges the Supreme Court to retain this appeal.

#### III. <u>ISSUES ON APPEAL</u>

- A. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING LUXOR TO USE A SUBSEQUENT AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS TO "OFFSET" A PRIOR SETTLEMENT BETWEEN HARRISON AND DESERT MEDICAL TO WHICH AN ATTORNEY'S LIEN HAD ALREADY ATTACHED.
- B. WHETHER, ALTERNATIVELY, THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY AWARDING ATTORNEY'S FEES TO LUXOR BASED UPON A \$1,000 OFFER OF JUDGMENT ACCORDING TO THE *BEATTIE* AND *BRUNZELL* FACTORS.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is an appeal involving Harrison's personal injury lawsuit based upon injuries she sustained as the rented motorized scooter tipped over as she was navigating out of a restaurant owned by Luxor. Harrison assigns error to two issues found withing two orders involving the District Court's erroneous ruling that Luxor's subsequent order awarding \$109,285.28 in attorney's fees and costs offset Harrison's prior settlement with Desert Medical for \$150,000. 4 AA 579–584. Since the offset issue was never actually decided within the attorney fees and costs hearing (but included in the order), Harrison moved the District Court for reconsideration, which the District Court denied without a hearing. 4 AA 579–584; 5 AA 727–731. First, Harrison asks this Court to reverse that portion of Luxor's award of attorney fees and costs order allowing Luxor to offset its award of attorney fees and costs against Harrison's separate settlement with Desert Medical. 4 AA 584. Second, Harrison asks this Court to reverse the District Court's award of attorney fees and costs relying upon Luxor's \$1,000 offer of judgment based upon the *Beattie*<sup>1</sup> and *Brunzell*<sup>2</sup> factors. Consistent with either of these requests, Harrison asks the Court to release the \$150,000 Desert Medical settlement funds to her, which are currently interpled in the District Court. 5 AA 735–743. Specifically, Harrison asks for this relief based upon the following reasons:

First, the District Court erred by allowing Luxor to use a subsequent award of attorney's fees and costs to "offset" a prior settlement between Harrison and Desert Medical to which an attorney's lien had already attached. Luxor's claim for attorney's fees and costs against the separate Desert Medical settlement funds is not an "offset." *See, e.g., In re Ingersoll,* 90 B.R. 168, 171 (Bankr. W.D.N.C. 1987) ("[T]he debts are between different parties in different capacities and, thus, not subject to offset."); *Dewey v. Latson,* 6 Cal. 609, 612 (1856) ("[T]he amount due under the judgment, were in different rights and to different parties, and could not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 668 P.2d 268 (1983).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Brunzell v. Golden Gate Nat'l Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969).

be subjects of offset, one against the other."). Since Luxor has no legal right to "offset" the Desert Medical settlement funds, Luxor's only avenue for attempted recovery was through normal execution procedures to afford due process to Harrison. See Brooksby v. Nev. State Bank, 129 Nev. 771, 773, 312 P.3d 501, 502 (2013) ("Only property owned by the judgment debtor is subject to garnishment, and questions regarding title to that property as between the judgment creditor and a third party are properly determined by the court having jurisdiction.") (citing NRS 21.120; NRS 31.070). The policies outlined in *Muije* with regard to an offset involving only two parties are not present in the instant case. Notably, Muije recites, "The purpose of a lawsuit is to settle a dispute between two parties." Id., 106 Nev. at 666, 799 P.2d at 560. It is also true that an offer of judgment cannot be transformed into a "vehicle to pressure offerees into foregoing legitimate claims in exchange for unreasonably low offers of judgment. . . ." Frazier v. Drake, 131 Nev. 632, 644, 357 P.3d 365, 373 (Ct. App. 2015). Therefore, Harrison first asks the Court to make the determination that Luxor's award of attorney fees and costs was not an offset against the Desert Medical settlement funds, such that the attorney's lien asserted by Harrison's attorneys against these settlement funds takes precedence.

Second, alternatively, the District Court erred by awarding attorney's fees to Luxor based upon a \$1,000 offer of judgment according to the *Beattie* and *Brunzell* factors. The District Court did not make a finding of bad faith according to the

*Beattie* factors, but applied other considerations to reach an award of attorney's fees. See Yamaha Motor Co., U.S.A. v. Arnoult, 114 Nev. 233, 252, 955 P.2d 661, 673 (1998). The District Court's reliance upon Luxor's \$1,000 offer of judgment to award attorney's fees unfairly required Harrison to forego legitimate claims. See Frazier, 131 Nev. at 644, 357 P.3d at 373. In fact, the District Court concluded that Luxor's \$1,000 offer of judgment to Harrison was both "unreasonable" and "ludicrous." 4 AA 576–577. Yet, the District Court also did not weigh the Brunzell factors, but instead selected an arbitrary number based upon other factors. Indeed, the District Court awarded Luxor the sum of \$69,688 in attorney fees without analyzing the Brunzell factors for determining the reasonableness of the requested attorney fees. See Shuette v. Beazer Homes Holdings Corp., 121 Nev. 837, 864-65, 124 P.3d 530, 549 (2005). Therefore, if the Court determines that Luxor, indeed, has a right of offset against the Desert Medical settlement funds, the Court should reverse Luxor's award of attorney fees for failure to satisfy the *Beattie* and *Brunzell* factors.

In summary, Harrison asks this Court to reverse that portion of Luxor's award of attorney fees and costs order allowing Luxor to offset its award of attorney fees and costs against Harrison's separate settlement with Desert Medical. 4 AA 584. Second, Harrison asks this Court to reverse the District Court's award of attorney fees and costs relying upon Luxor's \$1,000 offer of judgment based upon the *Beattie* 

-6-

and *Brunzell* factors. Consistent with either of these requests, Harrison asks the Court to release the \$150,000 Desert Medical settlement funds to her, which are currently interpled in the District Court. 5 AA 735–743.

#### V. <u>STANDARDS OF REVIEW</u>

#### A. STANDARDS FOR REVIEWING QUESTIONS OF LAW.

This Court reviews questions of law de novo. *See Birth Mother v. Adoptive Parents*, 118 Nev. 972, 974, 59 P.3d 1233, 1235 (2002). Statutory interpretation is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *Id*.

## B. STANDARDS FOR DETERMINING COMPETING LEGAL RIGHTS WITHIN A JUDGMENT.

The "legal operation and effect of a judgment" is a question of law subject to de novo review. *See Barbara Ann Hollier Trust v. Shack*, 131 Nev. 582, 592, 356 P.3d 1085, 1091 (2015) (citing *Ormachea v. Ormachea*, 67 Nev. 273, 291, 217 P.2d 355, 364 (1950)). In *Shack*, this Court applied a de novo review to issues regarding offsets. *Id*.

### C. STANDARDS FOR REVIEWING AWARDS OF ATTORNEY'S FEES.

Although a district court's decision regarding an award of attorney's fees is generally reviewed for an abuse of discretion, where the decision implicates a question of law, the appropriate standard of review is de novo. *See Thomas v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 122 Nev. 82, 90, 127 P.3d 1057, 1063 (2006).

#### VI. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

#### A. HARRISON'S COMPLAINT AND AMENDED COMPLAINT.

In 2016, Harrison filed a complaint and an amended complaint against Luxor and Desert Medical. 1 AA 1-9, 23-31. Harrison is a resident of Winston County, Alabama. Id. at 1, ¶ 1. Harrison was an invited guest of Luxor and was legally on the premises when the incident occurred. Id. at 2,  $\P$  8. Harrison, on December 10, 2014, was operating a rented scooter, through Desert Medical. Id. at 2, ¶ 9. As Harrison was entering the Backstage Deli, the Backstage Deli employees, in an effort to accommodate the scooter's passageway, proceeded to move the dining tables and chairs. Id. at 3,  $\P$  10. Harrison was operating the scooter over the base of the table ("Subject Table"), her scooter's front wheel gave way, and the scooter tipped over, to the right. Id. at 3, ¶ 11. Unaware of the present dangerous conditions, Harrison sustained serious injuries, including a stroke and a hip fracture. Id. at 3, ¶ 12. Luxor was in custody and control of the Backstage Deli restaurant furnishings, had a duty to maintain and inspect the tables, including the Subject Table on the Subject Premises for the care, safety and protection of those persons present on the Subject Premises, especially guests thereof, including Harrison. Id. at 3, ¶ 14. In the complaint, Harrison alleged claims for (1) negligence as to Luxor; (2) negligent hiring, training, maintenance, and supervision as to Luxor; and (3) negligence as to Desert Medical.<sup>3</sup>

# B. HARRISON'S ATTORNEYS INITIALLY ASSERT THEIR ATTORNEY'S LIEN.

On September 29, 2016, Harrison's attorneys initially asserted their initial attorney's lien. 4 AA 676–678. This notice was served by certified mail upon Harrison and the defense attorneys in the District Court litigation. *Id*.

#### C. LUXOR'S UNREASONABLE \$1,000 OFFER OF JUDGMENT.

Luxor served an unreasonable offer of judgment for \$1,000 to Harrison on March 23, 2017. 2 AA 269–272. This \$1,000 offer of judgment was issued less than a year after the commencement of this litigation. 1 AA 1–9. Additionally, the jury trial did not begin until December 10, 2018, making Luxor's offer of judgment just a few months shy of two years prior to trial. 2 AA 213.

# D. HARRISON'S HIGH-LOW SETTLEMENT WITH DESERT MEDICAL DURING THE JURY TRIAL.

During the jury trial, Harrison and Desert Medical entered into a high-low settlement agreement. 4 AA 701–708. The "low" amount of the settlement

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The other parties to the District Court proceedings, and their various claims, are irrelevant to the issues presented in this appeal. Although Desert Medical is not a party to this appeal, its settlement funds are relevant to the attorney's lien and offset issues presented to the Court.

agreement was \$150,000, meaning that even with a defense verdict, Harrison would still recover this \$150,000 amount. *Id*.

#### E. THE JURY'S VERDICT.

On December 20, 2018, the jury signed the verdict form in favor of Desert Medical and Luxor, while skipping over the portions of the verdict form that would have awarded Harrison relief. 2 AA 231–234. On January 16, 2019, Luxor filed judgment on the jury verdict, and the notice was filed the next day. 2 AA 231–241.

### F. HARRISON'S ATTORNEYS ONCE AGAINST ASSERT THEIR ATTORNEY'S LIEN.

On January 8, 2019, prior to the entry of the judgment, Harrison's attorneys once again asserted their attorney's lien. 4 AA 680–682. This notice identified that Harrison's attorneys had incurred \$169,246.73 in costs on her behalf during the course of this litigation. *Id*.

#### G. LUXOR'S MOTION FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS, AND THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER.

On January 17, 2019, Luxor filed its motion for fees and costs, but did not brief the attorney's lien offset issue until the reply brief. 2 AA 252–292; 4 AA 497– 545. A hearing was held on February 27, 2019, where the District Court denied Luxor's request for attorney's fees from the time of the offer of judgment, stating that it was unreasonable. 4 AA 576–577. Of the \$202,398 in attorney fees that Luxor requested, the District Court awarded only \$69,688. *Id*. The District Court reasoned, "You know, you say you have \$420,00 in medical bills, so \$1,000 isn't reasonable." 4 AA 576. But, the District Court treated the "ludicrous" \$1,000 offer of judgment as continuing through trial, such that it later concluded: "But once all the facts were generated and all the parties knew exactly what the positions were going to be, that's when I consider what should've been done." 4 AA 577. As such, the District Court agreed with Harrison that at the time Luxor's offer of judgment was issued, it was *unreasonable*. Yet, the District Court looked beyond the period when the offer of judgment could actually be accepted to weigh the *Beattie* and *Brunzell* factors.

## H. ORDER GRANTING LUXOR'S MOTION FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS.

On March 18, 2019, the District Court signed Luxor's proposed order for \$39,597.28 in costs and \$69,688 in attorney's fees, for a total of \$109,285.28, without entertaining a rebuttal argument from Harrison. 5 AA 753–760. Yet, Luxor inserted a paragraph into the District Court's order that was never ruled upon in the hearing: "[T]his total final judgment must first be offset from other settlement funds received by Plaintiff and Plaintiff's attorney as part of the trial judgment before any distribution and this total final judgment in favor of Luxor takes priority over any other lien including an attorney's lien. *John J. Muije, Ltd. V. North Las Vegas Cab Co.*, 106 Nev. 664, 799 P.2d 559, 560 (1990)." 4 AA 584.

#### I. HARRISON'S MOTION TO RECONSIDER THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER GRANTING LUXOR AN ATTORNEY'S LIEN OFFSET AND THE DENIAL ORDER.

Since Luxor inserted the offset language in the District Court's attorney's fees and costs order, Harrison moved the District Court for reconsideration. 4 AA 594– 682. In her motion for reconsideration, Harrison outlined the reasons why the District Court's order awarding attorney's fees and costs to Luxor did not accurately represent the argument at the hearing. *Id.* Additionally, Harrison pointed out the distinctions in the instant case from *Muije*, such that it did not control the outcome of this issue. *Id.* Without a hearing, the District Court denied Harrison's motion for reconsideration. 5 AA 727–731.

## J. DESERT MEDICAL INTERPLEADS THE SETTLEMENT FUNDS.

With competing claims to the \$150,000 settlement funds, Desert Medical filed a motion to interplead. 4 AA 701–726. As the motion to interplead was unopposed, the settlement funds from Desert Medical are currently on deposit in the District Court. 5 AA 735–743.

#### VII. <u>LEGALARGUMENT</u>

#### A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING LUXOR TO USE A SUBSEQUENT AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS TO "OFFSET" A PRIOR SETTLEMENT BETWEEN HARRISON AND DESERT MEDICAL TO WHICH AN ATTORNEY'S LIEN HAD ALREADY ATTACHED.

The District Court erred by allowing Luxor to use a subsequent award of attorney's fees and costs to "offset" a prior settlement between Harrison and Desert Medical to which an attorney's lien had already attached.

#### 1. <u>Luxor's Claim for Attorney's Fees and Costs Against the</u> <u>Separate Desert Medical Settlement Funds Is Not an</u> <u>"Offset."</u>

Luxor's claim for attorney's fees and costs against the separate Desert Medical settlement funds is not an "offset." *See, e.g., In re Ingersoll*, 90 B.R. 168, 171 (Bankr. W.D.N.C. 1987) ("[T]he debts are between different parties in different capacities and, thus, not subject to offset."); *Dewey v. Latson*, 6 Cal. 609, 612 (1856) ("[T]he amount due under the judgment, were in different rights and to different parties, and could not be subjects of offset, one against the other."). Indeed, the definition of "offset" contemplates, "[s]omething (such as an amount or claim) that balances or compensates for something else." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY, 1310 (11th ed. 2019).

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