IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

VIVIA HARRISON, AN INDIVIDUAL,

No. 80167

Electronically Filed Dec 23 2020 05:01 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

RAMPARTS, INC., dba LUXOR HOTEL & CASINO, A NEVADA DOMESTIC CORPORATION,

Respondents.

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, the Honorable, David M. Jones Presiding

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Lincoln Gustafson & Cercos

Loren S. Young, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 7567
Mark B. Bailus, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 2284
3960 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169

Telephone: (702) 257-1997 Facsimile: (702) 257-2203 lyoung@lgclawoffice.com mbailus@lgclawoffice.com

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

distribution of funds and payments were provided to plaintiff). The *Schouweiler* decision is analogous to the case *sub judice* in that the District Court permitted Luxor to offset its award of fees and costs against the proceeds Harrison recovered from Desert Medical as a result of the jury verdict.

Ultimately, as the prevailing party, Luxor should not be encumbered by the losing party's attorney's lien. *See Hobson*, 385 A.2d at 1258 (the prevailing party should not be burdened by the claims asserted by the losing party's attorney). The proceeds from Desert Medical as result of the high/low trial agreement are not "separate settlement funds." When Harrison proceeded to trial against Luxor and Desert Medical, all of Harrison's causes of action related to the same litigation. Harrison did not introduce any new theories or pursue allegations which were unrelated to the instant case. Harrison's purported trial agreement with Desert Medical did not dismiss Desert Medical nor did it dismiss any claims against Desert Medical but rather, only reduced Desert Medical's exposure of damages.

This is not a situation where third-parties settled for a specific amount as part of a settlement agreement prior to trial alleviating the need for trial. Here, the amount Desert Medical was required to pay was wholly contingent on the outcome of the trial. The high/low trial agreement only reduced Desert Medical's exposure of damages and did not settle the case. Rather, Harrison and Desert Medical were still required to try the case and the amount Desert Medical was required to pay Harrison

was dependent on the jury verdict. As such, Luxor's award for fees and costs should be offset against the proceeds Harrison received from Desert Medical as they both originated from the same litigation and are clearly related to the same incident, set of facts and/or causes of action. If there is any amount remaining after Luxor's offset, Harrison's counsel may assert their attorney's lien against that net judgment. 4 AA 584. *See Muije*, 106 Nev. at 666 (a perfected attorney's lien attaches to the net judgment that the client receives after all setoffs arising from that action have been paid, once a net judgement is determined, then the attorney's lien is superior to any later lien asserted against that judgment).

3. Any Equitable Considerations as to Setoffs as Contemplated By Muije, Weigh Heavily in Favor of Luxor

Further, the underlying equitable principles enunciated in *Muije*, 106 Nev. at 666, with regard to an offset are applicable in the case *sub judice*:

"In *Galbreath, Hobson* and *Salaman*, each court weighed the equities and determined that a perfected attorney's lien attaches to the net judgment that the client received after all setoffs arising from that action have been paid. Once a net judgment is determined, then the attorney's lien is superior to any later lien asserted against that judgment."

After weighing the equities, a perfected attorney's lien attaches to the net judgment that the client receives after all setoffs arising from that action have been paid, once a net judgement is determined, then the attorney's lien is superior to any later lien asserted against that judgment. *Id*.

Clearly, any equitable considerations as to setoffs as contemplated by *Muije* tip heavily in favor of Luxor. It must be remembered that Harrison's counsel, not Harrison, will receive the proceeds at issue, since Harrison's counsel's claim an attorney's lien of \$169,246.73, leaving nothing for Harrison herself. As between Luxor's and Harrison's counsel, all arguments based in equity weigh heavily in favor of Luxor as the more deserving party of payment of its fees and costs, especially in light of the fact that Luxor, early in the litigation requested a voluntary dismissal of the complaint and in exchange would agree to waive attorney's fees and costs and said proposal was rejected by Harrison. Then Luxor made a reasonable offer of judgment which was also rejected by Harrison. Further, Luxor was the prevailing party receiving a complete defense verdict at trial.

In *Lindsay v. Pettigrew*, 8 S.D. 244, 66 N.W. 321, 321 (S.D. 1896), and presumably here, the plaintiff was insolvent, and the South Dakota Supreme Court reversed a superior court order refusing to set off the judgments noting that "by the order appealed from, the defendant, although a prevailing party, [was], in effect, required to pay plaintiff's attorney." See also, Angel Home Health Care, Inc. v. Mederi of Dade County, Inc., 696 So.2d 487, 488 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1997) (remanding for entry of net judgment where separate judgments could give rise to the "totally absurd" result of insolvent net loser collecting from solvent net winner).

By rejecting Luxor's reasonable offer of judgement, Harrison and her counsel assumed the risk that the jury verdict would be lower than the award. Luxor should not be made to pay Harrison's attorney's lien merely because Harrison lost her gamble. *See Bennett v. Weitz*, 559 N.W. 2d 354, 357 (Mich. Ct. App. 1996) (By rejecting the mediation award, plaintiffs and their counsel assumed the risk that the verdict would be lower than the award. Defendants should not be made to pay plaintiffs' attorney fees merely because plaintiffs lost their gamble.) As such, equity requires that Luxor's award of attorney fees and costs must be offset from other funds received by Harrison prior to the satisfaction of liens, including Harrison's counsel attorney's lien. 4 AA 584.

4. The Court's Order Entering Judgment Against Harrison for Luxor's Attorney's Fees and Costs is Superior to a Perfected Attorney's Lien, and Must be Satisfied Prior to the Attachment of an Attorney's Lien

Further, the creation date of Harrison's counsel attorney's lien is of no import. Assuming, *arguendo*, Harrison's counsel have a perfected attorney lien, the creation of the same is not applicable here as Luxor received a judgment, and not a lien, against Harrison. As in *Muije*, where the Nevada Supreme Court held that a judgment offset is superior to a perfected attorney's lien, here, too, the District Court's offset of the judgment against the proceeds Harrison received from Desert Medical should not be disturbed. As enunciated in *Muije*, "a perfected attorney's lien attaches to the net judgment that the client receives after all setoffs arising from that action have

been paid." *See Muije*, 106 Nev. at 666. Therefore, Luxor's judgment for fees and costs is superior to Harrison counsel's attorney lien irrespective of when it may have been created and their lien may only be asserted against the proceeds remaining after payment of Luxor's judgment.

5. <u>Since Harrison's Due Process Argument Was Not Made in the District Court, Harrison Has Waived This Argument and It Should Not Be</u> Considered on Appeal

In her opening brief (at 15-17), Harrison makes the argument that [s]ince Luxor has no legal right to 'offset' the Desert Medical settlement funds, Luxor's only avenue for attempted recovery was through normal execution procedures to afford due process to Harrison." Nonsense.

First, Harrison's "due process" argument was not made in the district court and as such, Harrison has waived this argument and it should not be considered on appeal. 3 AA 488-496, 4 AA 594-604. *See Schuck v. Signature Flight Support of Nev., Inc.,* 126 Nev. 434, 436, 245 P.3d 542, 544 (2010) ("[A] de novo standard of review does not trump the general rule that a point not urged in the trial court . . . is deemed waived and will not be considered on appeal." (quotations omitted)); *see* also, *McKay v. City of Las Vegas*, 106 Nev. 203, 207, 789 P.2d 584, 586 (1990) (declining to consider issue not litigated before or ruled upon by the district court), overruled on other grounds by *Salais-Cooper v. Eighth Judicial District Court*, 117 Nev. 892, 34 P.3d 509 (2001). As such, Harrison's "due process" argument is of no moment.

Notwithstanding, Harrison's argument fails to recognize Luxor's status as party and not a lienholder or third-party creditor and as such, NRS 21.120 and NRS 31.070 do not apply. *See Muije*, 106 Nev. at 666.

Second, Harrison has been afforded "due process" in the district court. With competing claims to the \$150,000, Desert Medical filed a motion to interplead. 4 AA 701-726. The motion to interplead was granted and the proceeds are currently on deposit with the District Court.5 AA 735-743. Interpleader is an equitable proceeding to determine the rights of rival claimants to property by a third person having no interest therein. See Balish v. Farnham, 92 Nev. 133, 137, 546 P.2d 1297, 1299 (1976). In such a proceeding, each claimant is treated as a plaintiff and must recover on the strength of his own right or title and not upon the weaknesses of the An interpleader action is an appropriate procedure for the adversaries. *Id.* determining the respective rights of those interested. See Michel v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 117 Nev. 145, 151, 17 P.3d 1003, 1007 (2001). An interpleader action is utilized in order to conclusively determine the respective rights of all interested parties as to the entire amount in dispute. Id.

6. The District Court Did Not Conclude That Luxor's \$1,000 Offer of Judgment Was Unreasonable and Ludicrous

In her opening brief (at 17), Harrison argues that "[c]ertainly, *Muije* does not stand for the principle that Harrison should have settled with Luxor for \$1,000, which the District Court itself characterized as "unreasonable" and "ludicrous" in light of

her \$420,000 in medical bills." 4 AA 576-577. Harrison's argument fails on several levels.

Contrary to Harrison's repeated assertions, the District Court did not conclude Luxor's \$1,000 offer of judgement was "unreasonable" and "ludicrous." Just the opposite is true. In its order, the District Court determined that "the offer served by Luxor was *reasonable* and [Harrison] did not obtain a more favorable judgement than the offer." (Emphasis added.) 4 AA 582. Additionally, Harrison has taken the District Court's comments regarding \$1,000 offers of judgment as being "ludicrous" out of context. The District Court was actually speaking in generalities and not specifically to Luxor's offer. What the District Court actually said was "[a]ll the years of my practice both on the plaintiff and defense side, we looked at these \$1,000 offers of judgment from the plaintiff's side as just ludicrous." 4 AA 576-577. As evident from foregoing, Harrison has misapprehended the District Court's comments and erroneously extrapolated the same to apply to Luxor's offer.

As to Harrison's argument regarding the \$420,000 in medical bills, it is skewed since Harrison did not present any evidence of past and/or future medical bills at trial. 4 AA 501. Although Harrison presented a life care planner at trial, Harrison later stipulated on the record during trial that Plaintiff would not be asking the jury to award any damages for past and/or future medical bills but just "pain and suffering." *Id.* Given the fact that the medical bills sought at trial was \$0, and not \$420,000, and

that liability was highly unlikely against Luxor, an offer of \$1,000 early in the case, almost two years prior to trial, and months before incurring substantial fees and costs in taking depositions, retaining experts, and other discovery, was not only reasonable in timing but predictive. *Id. See Gallagher v. Crystal Bay Casino, LLC*, No. 3:08-cv-00055-ECRVPC, 2010 WL 4669399, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 56264 (D.C. Nev. Apr. 20, 2012) ("the timing was both reasonable and in good faith in that the offer was made early in the course of litigation, after initial exchange of documents and prior to later, more extensive discovery and significant pre-trial motion practice).

B. ALTERNATIVELY, THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY AWARDING ATTORNEY'S FEES TO LUXOR BASED UPON A REASONABLE \$1,000 OFFER OF JUDGMENT ACCORDING TO THE *BEATTIE* AND *BRUNZELL* FACTORS.

In the case *sub judice*, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in awarding attorney fees to Luxor. Here, the District Court, after applying the *Beattie* and *Brunzell* factors, found that Luxor's \$1,000 offer of judgment was reasonable. As such, this Court should affirm the District Court's grant of attorney fees in favor of Luxor.

1. The District Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Awarding Attorney Fees to Luxor Based Upon the Reasonable \$1,000 Offer of Judgment According to the Beattie and Brunzell Factors

When deciding whether to award penalties under Rule 68, the court's discretion is governed by the *Beattie* factors: "(1) whether the plaintiff's claim was brought in good faith; (2) whether the defendants' offer of judgment was reasonable

and in good faith in both its timing and amount; (3) whether the plaintiff's decision to reject the offer . . . was grossly unreasonable or in bad faith; and (4) whether the fees sought by the offeror are reasonable and justified in amount." *See Beattie v. Thomas*, 668 P.2d 268, 274 (Nev. 1983). No one *Beattie* factor is dispositive, and the court need not necessarily make explicit findings as to all of the factors. *See Nat'l Union Fire Ins. v. Pratt and Whitney*, 107 Nev. 535, 815 P.2d 601, 606 (1991); *Certified Fire Prot. Inc. v. Precision Constr.*,128 Nev. 371, 283 P.3d 250, 258 (2012).

In determining the fourth *Beattie* factor, the Court must also examine the attorney's quality, work performance and amount, and the result. *See Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank*, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969). After analyzing the *Beattie* and *Brunzell* factors, the Court may award all or some of the fees requested. *See Beattie*, 99 Nev. at 589.

The court considers these factors in light of the underlying policy of Rule 68: "to encourage litigants who receive offers of judgment to settle their lawsuits by forcing the offeree to balance the uncertainty of receiving a more favorable judgment against the risk of receiving a less favorable judgment and being forced to pay the offeror's costs and attorney's fees." *See Lentz v. ID.S. Fin. Servs., Inc.*, 890 P.2d 783, 785 (Nev. 1995) (quotation marks and citation omitted); *see also, Ginena v. Alaska Airlines, Inc.*, No. 2:04-CV-01304-MMD, 2013 WL 3297074, at*2, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 14006 (D. Nev. June 27, 2013). The court is required to consider each of the

factors and no single factor is determinative. *See Yamaha Motor Co., U.S.A. v. Arnoult*, 114 Nev. 233, 250-51, 955 P.2d 661, 673 n. 16 (1998). Nor are explicit findings on every *Beattie* factor required for the district court to adequately exercise its discretion. *See id.; see also, Wynn v. Smith*, 117 Nev. 6, 13, 16 P.3d 424, 428 (2001) ("Although explicit findings with respect to these factors are preferred, the district court's failure to make explicit findings is not a per se abuse of discretion."). Further, the court may properly award fees even where the plaintiff litigated his claims and defenses in good faith and did not act unreasonably in rejecting the offer of judgment. *See RTTC Commc'ns, LLC v. Saratoga Flier, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 34, 42-43, 110 P.3d 24, 29-30 (2005).

2. <u>Harrison Has Failed to Make a Cogent Argument in Her Briefing as to the Costs Awarded to Luxor and Thus, This Court Should Decline to Consider Claims Not Cogently Argued</u>

Initially, it must be observed that Harrison has failed to make a cogent argument in her briefing as to the costs awarded to Luxor. Absent such, this Court should decline to consider the same and affirm the award of costs to Luxor in the amount of \$39,597.28. *See Edwards v. Emporer's Garden Rest.*, 122 Nev. 317, 330 N. 38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 n. 38 (2006) (stating that this court need not consider claims that are not cogently argued or supported by relevant authority).

3. The District Court Did Not Err by Awarding Attorney's Fees to Luxor Based Upon a Reasonable \$1,000 Offer of Judgment According to the Beattie and Brunzell Factors

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